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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Good afternoon.

          3  I apologize for being late, those of you who were

          4  here at 1 o'clock and saw that we were here at 1

          5  o'clock, as well.  So I'm apologizing because it's

          6  my responsibility that this hearing is starting

          7  late, but not for not being here on time.  That was

          8  a deep thought.  I will talk about it later.

          9                 I want to introduce my colleagues who

         10  are here today.  We have, from my left, Council

         11  Member Vacca, Council Member Vallone, Council Member

         12  Brewer, Council Member Dickens and Council Member

         13  Seabrook.

         14                 Today we're going to be addressing

         15  three Intros., and we're going to deal first with

         16  the Intro. No. 263, which relates to Campaign

         17  Finance Law, and after that, we will address 262 and

         18  proposed Intro. 586A.  In the meantime, I will call

         19  up Amy Loprest from the Campaign Finance Division

         20  and Carole Campolo, and anybody else that wishes to

         21  come up with you.

         22                 Is anyone else coming up?  There is

         23  no one else there that works with you that wants

         24  some attention?  Okay.

         25                 Now that I've stalled all that time,
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          2  I have to stall additional time.  So I just figure

          3  at least we'll be able to start as soon as they're

          4  here.

          5                 Is there anyone in the audience that

          6  has anything they want to talk about?

          7                 So I have been given permission to

          8  start.  I just want to introduce Mora Keeney

          9  (phonetic), the Deputy Chief of Staff, and thank her

         10  in advance for all the work and effort and energy

         11  that she has put into this bill.  I thank you for

         12  being here to make sure that I do the right thing,

         13  and Mike Cassatano (phonetic), my Legislative Aide,

         14  Communications Director, who does that on a regular

         15  basis, make sure that I do the right thing.

         16                 Before we go into the hearing,

         17  Council Member Seabrook who has been sick in bed for

         18  a number of days, we dragged him out of bed for

         19  these important votes, and we'd like to give you

         20  permission to vote and go home and get better.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Intro. 262, 263 and

         22  586A, Council Member Seabrook.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Yes, to be

         24  excused, explain my vote and thank you very much,

         25  and I'm going to vote and leave. I'd like to be

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  recorded yes on 586A, and no on 262, and no on 263,

          3  Mr. Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          5  much, and we all hope and pray you feel better soon,

          6  so you can stay for all the Committee meetings.

          7  Okay?  Whenever you're ready.

          8                 MS. LOPREST: Just to clarify, 586A is

          9  the Campaign Finance Act, correct?  Okay.

         10                 Good morning, Chairman Felder and

         11  Committee members. I am Amy Loprest, Executive

         12  Director of the New York City Campaign Finance

         13  Board.  With me is Deputy Executive Director Carole

         14  Campolo.  I am here to testify on Intro. No. 586A.

         15  As I expressed to this Committee previously, we are

         16  pleased to have taken part in the process that

         17  produced this important legislation.  In my

         18  testimony today, I would like to focus on some

         19  issues that were not fully addressed in our last

         20  appearance before this Committee.  This legislation,

         21  as amended, will require the Board to accept certain

         22  documentation through an electronically scanned

         23  transmission. While accepting these documents

         24  electronically has been a goal of the Board, there

         25  is no protocol currently in place to do so.  In
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          2  response to this legislation, the Board will be

          3  drafting new rules over the next several months to

          4  meet each of its administrative mandates.  Those new

          5  rules will define a format and a method for

          6  electronic submissions meant to ensure the

          7  legibility and authenticity of documents received in

          8  this manner, and campaigns interested in submitting

          9  backup documentation to the Board electronically

         10  will be guided by those rules.

         11                 In our previous testimony, we spoke

         12  briefly about the budgetary impact of this new

         13  legislation.  Since then, we have prepared a

         14  conservative estimate of the resources that will be

         15  necessary to meet the bill's new administrative

         16  mandates.  We are estimating that these mandates

         17  would require approximately a 50 percent increase in

         18  the Board's budget.  The largest part of this

         19  increase is for new staff and additional space to

         20  house those staff.  The need for additional space is

         21  especially critical in order to ensure this

         22  legislation is implemented for the 2009 election, as

         23  the Council intends, and that process must begin

         24  immediately.

         25                 We are anticipating assistance from
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          2  both the Council and the Administration in procuring

          3  the resources necessary to implement this

          4  legislation once it becomes law.

          5                 I'd like to thank both the Council

          6  and the Administration in adopting, in the current

          7  Fiscal Year 2008 Budget, the additional resources

          8  that we had requested based on the Intro.

          9                 You have also asked a series of

         10  questions about the Board's application of current

         11  law.  We have addressed those questions in a letter

         12  which is attached to this testimony and has been

         13  submitted to you for the record.

         14                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         15  testify today, and I look forward to answering any

         16  questions you may have.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do any of my

         18  colleagues have any questions?  Council Member

         19  Vacca.

         20                 Let me introduce Council Member

         21  Addabbo, who should be back shortly.  Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Can you please

         23  let me know what is your current budget?

         24                 MS. LOPREST: Our current budget is

         25  about $9.8 million.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Does that

          3  reflect the additions that the Council made?

          4                 MS. LOPREST: Yes, for 2008.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: For 2008?

          6                 MS. LOPREST: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So you're at

          8  9.8?

          9                 MS. LOPREST: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So you are

         11  requesting an increase of 50 percent?

         12                 MS. LOPREST: This is a conservative

         13  estimate.  I mean, when we submit our budget next

         14  year, and the year after, we will be revising and

         15  making assessments.  As we begin to implement the

         16  changes in the law, we'll probably have a better,

         17  more precise number, but that's the most

         18  conservative budget estimate.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: The

         20  conservative estimate would be at least 50 percent

         21  beyond your $9.8 million budget, and that would be

         22  for Fiscal Year 2009?

         23                 MS. LOPREST: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So it's not a

         25  request for this year.
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          2                 MS. LOPREST: It's not a request for

          3  this year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Okay.  Thank

          5  you.

          6                 MS. LOPREST: And just to clarify,

          7  Council Member Vacca, when I say conservative, I

          8  mean in a budget term that means the high end, not a

          9  low end.  I mean, that's the upper  -- conservative

         10  for budgeting is the worst case scenario.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I understand.

         12  Thank you.  I needed that.  I appreciate that.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do any other

         15  members have any questions?  Seeing none, I thank

         16  you very much for being here and for working

         17  together with us on this monumental piece of

         18  legislation.

         19                 MS. LOPREST: Okay.  Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: The next panel --

         22  and I'm going to ask for the Sergeant-at-Arms if you

         23  could please help us out, as you always do -- we

         24  need three more chairs at the witness table, please.

         25                 So we have Edith Prentiss, Marc
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          2  Crawford Leavitt, Dan Jacoby, Abhishek Mistry  --

          3  Did I pronounce that correctly? Abhishek.  I should

          4  be able to do that  --  Elizabeth Sperber and Edward

          5  A. Hartzog.   What's the last name?

          6                 MR. HARTZOG: Hartzog.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER:  Okay. I'm

          8  trying.

          9                 First of all, Sergeant-at-Arms,

         10  please set the timer for two minutes.  I should do

         11  it.  I mess this up all the time. I'm sorry.

         12                 Second of all, anybody who is here

         13  who has not signed up, the 15-minute rule from the

         14  time the hearing starts, in this Committee if you

         15  don't sign up within 15 minutes from the time the

         16  hearing begins, you lose your opportunity to speak.

         17  You have another six minutes.  We started about

         18  1:30.  If there is anyone here that wants to testify

         19  that didn't fill out one of these slips should see

         20  the Sergeant-at-Arms and he's sitting right over

         21  there.

         22                 Finally, for those that are

         23  testifying, this is very important, I don't want to

         24  seem rude, but I'm not going to allow you to repeat

         25  the same things over and over again.  So I would
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          2  just appreciate, and I think it's for the benefit of

          3  everybody, that I am going to try to listen to what

          4  you say, and you should try to listen to what the

          5  people testifying before you say.  You can say I

          6  agree with or disagree and then add whatever is new.

          7  Okay?  You can start in any order you like.  Thank

          8  you.

          9                 MS. PRENTISS: Hello.  My name is

         10  Edith Prentiss. I'm the 1st VP of Disabled in

         11  Action, and the President of the 504 Democratic

         12  Club.  In New York City, despite the numerous

         13  attempts to reorganize and limit campaign spending,

         14  there has never been a successful attempt to change

         15  the way in which campaigns are done. The bottom line

         16  is the person who gets the most money, spends the

         17  most money and is likely to win.

         18                 I'd like to address the issue of

         19  campaign finance --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I just want for

         21  the record, you did speak for 16 seconds, but I

         22  wasn't listening to you, so we are starting from the

         23  beginning.

         24                 MS. PRENTISS: Okay.  Start from the

         25  beginning.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay.  Ready.

          3                 MS. PRENTISS: My name is Edith

          4  Prentiss.  I'm the 1st VP of Disabled in Action and

          5  the President of 504 Democratic Club.  I would like

          6  to speak about campaign finance from the unique

          7  perspective of disabled New Yorkers.

          8                 Disabled New Yorkers are involved in

          9  a number of issues.  We're very good at screening

         10  candidates.  We are your footworkers often, but

         11  we're not affluent. We're not members.  Even if your

         12  events were accessible, we're not likely going to be

         13  paying $200, $500, whatever, to attend.

         14                 I'd like to address four items that

         15  specifically show the lack of impact of poorer New

         16  Yorkers.  DRIE, Disabled Renters' Increase

         17  Exemption, is competing with the big money of

         18  developers, landlords, et cetera.  Do we have ever

         19  any hope of that rent being frozen parity to

         20  seniors?  Seniors have a much greater block than we

         21  do.

         22                 EPIC, the expansion of EPIC, we're

         23  competing with other groups that want to see the

         24  money that is being saved in the Medicaid at the

         25  Albany level that would like those monies to go into
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          2  other programs.  We are a very low priority.

          3                 Visitability, we feel that

          4  visitability is very simple, very easy, make places

          5  accessible.  We'd like to visit with our families as

          6  well.

          7                 The Taxis for All, need I say more?

          8  That's the City Council level and the City level.

          9  Will we ever see accessible taxis in our lifetime?

         10  Hey, we got green ones.

         11                 I think that people with disabilities

         12  are unlikely to attend your events.  We are your

         13  workers.  We feel that the only way in which we will

         14  have an equal and appropriate influence is if there

         15  were total overhaul of the campaign finance system.

         16  We need to look at smaller donations.  We need to

         17  look at better matches. We need to look at a whole

         18  lot of other things.  We also need to hold

         19  politicians to their word.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         21  much.  Next.

         22                 MS. SPERBER: Hi.  My name is

         23  Elizabeth Sperber.  I'm a resident of the Lower East

         24  Side and a member of Democracy Matters and a

         25  volunteer with Citizen Action.  Thank you for having
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          2  us.

          3                 I want to take this opportunity to

          4  stress to you the reasons why I and many other young

          5  active people believe that full public, full public

          6  financing of elections must become the norm for our

          7  nation and why we, therefore, think that New York

          8  City should take this opportunity to help lead the

          9  way.

         10                 Campaign finance reform is

         11  fundamentally a values issues.  Imagine a system

         12  where anyone can run if they can build a base in

         13  their district.  If you can build that base, you can

         14  run for office and you can win.  Now imagine a world

         15  where legislators have nothing to do but represent

         16  their own constituents.  The elected representative

         17  is accountable only to the constituents of his or

         18  her district.  These are values that are

         19  non-partisan.  It's not about big government or

         20  small government, but who's government.

         21                 Partial public funding, the system we

         22  now have, does not, in the end, address these

         23  fundamental issues.  Instead of eliminating the

         24  influence of the wealthy few, and the special

         25  interests, the current system merely subsidizes
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          2  elite private dollars with public dollars.  It's the

          3  worst of both worlds.

          4                 For this reason, the current partial

          5  public funding system has not substantially

          6  increased voter confidence or participation.

          7  Instead, it punishes the candidates who opt in by

          8  forcing them to deal with the nightmare of the

          9  Campaign Finance Board while still having to dial

         10  for dollars.  These candidates should not be

         11  punished.  They should be rewarded with a fully

         12  functional full public financing system.

         13                 Some critics of fully voter-owned

         14  elections write it off saying that money is the

         15  mother's milk of politics.  That may be the case,

         16  but we want it to be our money, the constituents'

         17  money, in small amounts and fair proportions that

         18  fund our government, not special interests and the

         19  wealthy few, who in this system can effectively buy

         20  seats and legislation.

         21                 In other words, we don't want to

         22  lower the ceiling of contributions  --  Okay.  Thank

         23  you.

         24                 MR. MISTRY: Finish your sentence.

         25                 MS. SPERBER: We don't want to lower
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          2  the ceiling for folks who want to go the private

          3  funding route.  We want to raise the floor so that

          4  candidates who don't come from wealth, or choose to

          5  put their money where their mouth is and endorse

          6  democratic ideals, can have a raised floor and

          7  participate in elections. Thank you.

          8                 MR. MISTRY: Thank you.  My name is

          9  Abhishek Mistry. I'm an Organizer for Democracy for

         10  New York City.  I applaud the City Council for

         11  attacking the important issue of election reform,

         12  and I want to thank you for having me testify.

         13                 Unfortunately, matching funds simply

         14  cannot address many of the problems with our current

         15  election system.  The idea behind matching funds is

         16  to allow candidates raising small dollar amounts to

         17  compete with candidates who are able to raise larger

         18  sums.  Leveling the field, however, is not without

         19  sizable difficulty.  Consider a City Council race

         20  where one candidate raises money by soliciting

         21  $2,750 donations, the current maximum. Under a 4:1

         22  matching ratio, any competitor soliciting $100

         23  donations, must raise more than five donations to

         24  rival a single donation of $2,750.  Smaller

         25  candidates are able to compete. However, they must
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          2  spend a much greater amount of time fundraising.

          3                 This is the fundamental and critical

          4  flaw of matching funds.  The system merely

          5  encourages candidates to spend more time

          6  fundraising.  Instead of serving the public, all

          7  candidates are forced to spend much of their time

          8  serving those with $100 checks.

          9                 Fortunately, these is an elegant

         10  practical solution that eliminates these

         11  difficulties, Clean money, Clean Elections.

         12  Candidates would be forced only to raise a small sum

         13  of money to show they have a base of support.  After

         14  this start-up task, however, candidates will be free

         15  to use their time to exercise democracy by talking

         16  and listening to voters.  Perhaps more importantly,

         17  incumbents will be able to focus on legislating and

         18  governing without the worry of how they will finance

         19  their next election campaign.

         20                 I urge the Council to implement Clean

         21  Money, Clean Elections immediately.

         22                 MR. HARTZOG: Mr. Chairman, my name is

         23  Ed Hartzog. I'm the Executive Director of New

         24  Democratic Majority, a grassroots organization here

         25  in the City.  Thank you for allowing me to come here
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          2  today and testify before you.  I want to start by

          3  applauding your desire and efforts to improve the

          4  City's campaign finance system by increasing the

          5  amount of matching funds from 4:1 to 6:1, this bill

          6  will benefit those candidates who are unable to tap

          7  into vast amounts of personal wealth or networks of

          8  well- heeled friends and associates.  Together with

          9  increased spending limits for local and City- wide

         10  offices, Intro. 586 theoretically creates an

         11  opportunity for greater participation in the system.

         12                 As an activist, attorney and former

         13  Congressional staff member, I can attest to the

         14  benefits of more participation in the system.

         15  Certainly, it engenders greater confidence in the

         16  system, which is also the purpose of the bill's

         17  limitation on the amount of money people doing

         18  business with the City can contribute.

         19                 Notwithstanding its potential for

         20  creating greater participation and confidence in the

         21  system, the bill does not eliminate the need for you

         22  and your colleagues, along with potential

         23  challengers, to spend countless hours raising funds

         24  when you would rather be using that time for your

         25  constituents. Moreover, this bill creates another
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          2  level of bureaucracy that imposes costs on the

          3  system and individual candidates.

          4                 Thus, to build on the Committee's

          5  policy objectives of greater participation, reducing

          6  the appearance of impropriety and/or conflicts of

          7  interest, and increasing confidence in the system, I

          8  respectfully suggest the Committee and the Council

          9  consider the adoption of a complete publicly funded

         10  campaign system separate from what my colleagues

         11  here have spoken of, but completely publicly funded

         12  system.

         13                 Such a system would eliminate the

         14  need for fundraising, reduce costs, both for the

         15  City and individuals candidates, remove the stigma

         16  of money in politics and create an environment where

         17  campaigns more closely resemble what once was

         18  described as a crucible of ideas.  Until such a

         19  system is adopted, I would like to suggest that the

         20  Committee consider amending the current bill's

         21  contribution limits to reflect those of federal

         22  campaigns, that is limiting it to $2,300 dollars.

         23                 I hope the Committee and the Council

         24  will continue their efforts to improve the current

         25  system and encourage the consideration adoption of a
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          2  complete publicly funded campaign finance system.

          3  Thank you.

          4                 MR. JACOBY: Just so you know, Marc

          5  Leavitt had to go file some papers.  He's not back.

          6  Oh well.  I'm Dan Jacoby.  I'm an Organizer at

          7  Democracy for New York City.  I want to talk about a

          8  loophole in the current bill that not a lot of

          9  people are mentioning.

         10                 A hundred years ago, the first

         11  campaign finance law was passed.  It was the Tillman

         12  Act.  Teddy Roosevelt pushed it through Congress and

         13  it supposedly banned corporate contributions. All

         14  the corporations did was give big bonuses to top

         15  management and they funneled it in.  That was the

         16  first loophole.  Ever since then, there have been

         17  loopholes.

         18                 The current bill supposedly limits,

         19  very strictly, campaign contributions from people

         20  doing business with the City, but what it doesn't do

         21  is limit those contributions from subcontractors.

         22  So I think you're going to find a lot of contractors

         23  who have lots of business will start setting up

         24  little subcontractors, putting their staff in there,

         25  and that's how they're going to funnel it through.
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          2                 Basically, what it means is every

          3  time you try and tighten the current system, and you

          4  know, you look at it.  It is clearly the most

          5  creative and thoughtful system in the country as far

          6  as matching funds go, but there is always the

          7  loophole. There's always a way around it.  There's

          8  always a way to render it ineffective, which is why

          9  I, along with a number of other people, are pushing

         10  for a full public funding system.  It's simpler.

         11  You don't have to deal with the craziness that is

         12  necessary of the Campaign Finance Board's

         13  regulations, and it would truly level the playing

         14  field.

         15                 I want to thank you again for holding

         16  this hearing.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do any of my

         18  colleagues have any questions?  Then I thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 The last panel for this, we call up

         21  two people, Adrienne Kivelson from the League of

         22  Women Voters, and Heather Taylor from Citizens'

         23  Campaign.  You can start whenever you're ready.

         24                 MS. KIVELSON: Good afternoon Chairman

         25  Felder and members of the Committee.  My name is
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          2  Adrienne Kivelson, and I am the City Affairs Chair

          3  and Election Specialist of the New York City League

          4  of Women Voters.  I want to thank you for continuing

          5  efforts to enhance and improve New York City's

          6  innovative campaign finance law.

          7                 We are particularly pleased with this

          8  bill because participating candidates are going to

          9  receive more training and be given clearer

         10  definitions of what is and what is not acceptable in

         11  terms of contributions and expenditures.  We are

         12  also happy to see defined time frames and firm

         13  deadlines for Campaign Board actions, reports and

         14  audits, as well as the additional due process

         15  proceedings.

         16                 We hear complaints from first- time

         17  candidates that the system is just too complicated,

         18  that one mistake in accepting an ineligible check

         19  results in the freezing of public funds at the

         20  height of the campaign.  This is just a small issue,

         21  but it's an example of what is happening and what

         22  has happened with the bill. It's good to see that

         23  Section 2.1b addresses this issue.  Hopefully the

         24  revised provisions will produce a program which is

         25  more clear, fair and easily accessible for first-
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          2  time candidates.

          3                 Of course, these provisions will

          4  require a larger and more specialized staff for the

          5  Campaign Finance Board, which we trust is achievable

          6  since the bill was developed as a collaboration of

          7  the Council and the Administration.

          8                 I'm just going to go to one other

          9  point that I want to get to before my time is up.

         10  The most far reaching aspect of the bill is the cap

         11  on contributions from a broad range of people doing

         12  business with the City.

         13                 We're concerned that the creation,

         14  maintenance and reliance on the proposed database

         15  could overwhelm and undermine the Campaign Finance

         16  program.  We understand it's going to be based on

         17  the current Vendex system which lists City

         18  contractors.  We've spent years trying to look at

         19  Vendex and understand it, and we still have had

         20  difficulty with it.  So we're concerned that we're

         21  putting in place something that is so complicated

         22  that it may, in fact, undermine the very system we

         23  are trying to strengthen.

         24                 We're very happy to hear that if this

         25  is not in place by 2009, it will be reviewed.  We
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          2  hope that if it is not in place, we will not make

          3  any attempt to use it for the 2009 election.

          4                 Thank you.  I'd be happy to answer

          5  any questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I just want to

          7  mention that what you just said is so, that unless

          8  the system is in place, we can't impose anything on

          9  anyone unless they have something that they can rely

         10  on.

         11                 MS. KIVELSON: We understand that.

         12  We're just concerned that we put something in place

         13  that is really not necessarily going to work and not

         14  where we should put our emphasis at this time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do you have an

         16  alternative suggestion?

         17                 MS. KIVELSON: Well at some point,

         18  we'd like to see full disclosure, which we've always

         19  supported, and at some point, we should start

         20  considering the issue of full public financing, but

         21  the system has been in place for so many years.

         22  We've always supported the system.  We're big

         23  supporters of Campaign Finance, but in reading the

         24  expectations for this database, and our experience

         25  with other databases in the City that have tried to
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          2  do similar things, we don't want to lose the

          3  wonderful things that the Campaign Finance program

          4  has done by putting to many eggs into that basket.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.  Next,

          6  please.

          7                 MS. TAYLOR: Good afternoon Chairman

          8  Felder and members of the Committee.  My name is

          9  Heather Taylor.  I'm with the Citizens' Campaign.  I

         10  want to thank you for this opportunity to testify.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Bring the mic a

         12  little closer please.

         13                 MS. TAYLOR: Sorry.  Thank you for the

         14  opportunity to speak on this bill, and we applaud

         15  Mayor Bloomberg and Council President Quinn for

         16  spearheading this legislation.

         17                 Over and across the Hudson, New

         18  Jersey has already adopted its own version of this

         19  bill, most often called pay- to- play reform.  The

         20  law regulates the awarding of government contracts

         21  rather than a broad ban on contribution.  This is

         22  both constitutionally sound and effective.

         23                 The bill specifically, in New Jersey,

         24  limits contributions by those seeking or performing

         25  government contracts. The law is regulated by the
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          2  Department of Treasury, rather than an election

          3  monitoring board, and contractors who violate the

          4  law are found in breach of contract.

          5                 The loss of the government contract

          6  is an important component of the law because it

          7  deters those who would want to pay to- play from

          8  doing so because it is a huge monetary loss to the

          9  company rather than a fine which could be a slap on

         10  the wrist. Since 2004, when this was adopted, we

         11  have seen that contributions by contractors has

         12  significantly been reduced.

         13                 Just a couple of recommendations to

         14  this law.  First we recommend that the bill apply

         15  the same kind of restrictions to the contractor, and

         16  in doing so that a contractor, if they violate the

         17  law and do try to circumvent it, they'd be found in

         18  breach of contract and precluded from entering into

         19  future contracts for a period of up to four years.

         20                 Finally, we recommend that, in the

         21  regulation, it doesn't just have the limitations go

         22  prior to contract until it's awarded, but also there

         23  is a period post- award of the contract where the

         24  contribution restrictions would also be applied

         25  because that is also a sensitive time.  Once someone
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          2  get a contract, there is no more competition, and

          3  there is room for change orders and other abuses of

          4  the system.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do any of my

          6  colleagues have any questions?  Council Member

          7  Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'll be very

          9  quick. Adrienne, I agree with you.  I think that as

         10  Chair of the Technology, I see a lot of discussions

         11  regarding databases, even today, earlier at a

         12  hearing, problems between two agencies.  So we'll

         13  see how it goes.

         14                 I do believe in public financing.  I

         15  do think this is a greatly worded bill.  I think

         16  it's complicated, and I think it's going to be good

         17  for lawyers and accountants.  I know we have to try.

         18                 If you try public financing, a lot of

         19  politicians just love raising money, and so they'll

         20  be upset that they can't have a fundraiser.  So

         21  there is some very interesting nuances to all of

         22  this.

         23                 Thank you for your testimony.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do any of my

         25  colleagues have any other questions?  I want to
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          2  welcome Councilman Dominic Recchia, who has been

          3  saving, and savoring maybe, all the cultural

          4  institutions in the City during this tough budget

          5  season.

          6                 I just wanted to ask you, those

          7  recommendations that you made, are those in place in

          8  New Jersey?

          9                 MS. TAYLOR: Yes, they are.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay.  What about

         11  all the other stuff that we've put into this bill?

         12  Have you read the bill?  Have you had a chance to

         13  read through it?

         14                 MS. TAYLOR: I have.  We support the

         15  bill.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So, no.  I just

         17  want to ask you whether those other restrictions are

         18  in place in New Jersey, the issues with land use,

         19  the issues regarding all the other stuff?

         20                 MS. TAYLOR: We are working towards

         21  regulating the land use.  We've been able to that at

         22  the municipal level, but not for state.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So you would

         24  agree  --  I'm leading you  --  You would agree that

         25  this bill is much better than the one you have in
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          2  New Jersey.  Right?

          3                 MS. TAYLOR:  --  With a couple of the

          4  changes I recommended, yes.  I think it's important

          5  to regulate the contractors because that's really

          6  key to this being enforced.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: You know we don't

          8  to talk too much.  We're politicians.  It's a better

          9  bill than the one you have in New Jersey, yes or no?

         10    As it exists, is this bill better than the one you

         11  have in New Jersey?

         12                 MS. TAYLOR: It's comparable.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I don't think  --

         14    Sergeant- at Arms, will you carry this witness out

         15  of the room?  Thank you very much for your

         16  testimony.

         17                 MS. TAYLOR: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: We are unable to

         19  vote on this. You ready?  Okay.  Everyone has what

         20  they need?  Yes.  All right. Ready to call a roll.

         21  That's what you're supposed to do.  Go ahead.

         22                 I want to revise what I said earlier.

         23  We are voting now on the Campaign Finance Bill

         24  586-A.  After that vote, we are going to hear

         25  Councilman Avella's bills 262 and 263.  So let's
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          2  vote on 586-A.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Felder.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I recommend a yes

          5  vote, and I vote yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: No.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Recchia.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: May I be

         14  excused to explain my vote?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Please.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I think this

         17  is a good bill for the reasons we just heard about.

         18  Regulating people and groups that stand to benefit

         19  financially from dealings with the City Council is a

         20  good thing.  However, I'm concerned because I have

         21  yet to receive an answer to the question that sits

         22  in the room like an 800-pound gorilla, and that's

         23  basically why aren't all groups who lobby the City

         24  Council for money included in this bill?  If you

         25  limit half the playing field, and in the case, the
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          2  paying field, you've necessarily created an uneven

          3  playing field.

          4                 Again, I have that concern and I hope

          5  to address that concern down the line, but as I

          6  said, this bill does many good things.  For example,

          7  something that nobody has spoken about is treasurer

          8  liability, which exists right now.  Right now, your

          9  treasurer can make a mistake and be personally

         10  liable for it.  It's almost impossible to get

         11  somebody if it's not your brother, or somebody like

         12  that, to be your treasurer if they are going to have

         13  to pay if they make a mistake.  This bill eliminates

         14  that, and it's something I work with more about and

         15  I'm happy they put that in here.

         16                 Many of the fines that this bill

         17  takes away, like that one, it may seem on its face

         18  to help us, or be self-serving, but it's not true.

         19  It actually hurts us because we're the incumbents.

         20  If we get fined, we can pay.  We have campaign

         21  committees to do that.  It's the people who run

         22  against us who get fined and don't win who are going

         23  to be in big trouble.  So we, by taking these

         24  measures, we actually hurt ourselves.

         25                 Again, I think this bill does a lot
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          2  of good things. I do have that concern.  So I'm

          3  going to vote aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dickens.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of six in

          7  the affirmative, and one in the negative, no

          8  abstentions, item is adopted.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         10  much.  Now we will go to the second item on the

         11  agenda, and I just wanted to, even though Councilman

         12  Dilan voted, I didn't have a chance to welcome him.

         13  Welcome, Councilman Dilan.

         14                 Good afternoon, and welcome to this

         15  hearing of the Committee on Governmental Operations.

         16  I am Simcha Felder, Chair of the Committee, and,

         17  again, I'd like to introduce my colleagues who are

         18  here.  From the left, Councilman Vacca, Councilman

         19  Recchia, Councilman Vallone, Jr., Council Member

         20  Brewer, Council Member Erik Dilan, Council Member

         21  Dickens, Council Member Addabbo, and Councilman

         22  Avella.

         23                 Councilman Avella, do you want to

         24  come here?  It's your bill.

         25                 I'd like to acknowledge the Committee
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          2  staff that diligently prepared today's hearing,

          3  DeNora Johnson, who is walking this way and giving

          4  the members paper, wearing glasses.  What?  I'm not

          5  going to say anything of the sort.  You're not going

          6  to get me into trouble.  Israel Rodriguez is helping

          7  us out making copies. And to my left, again, my

          8  Legislative Aid, Michael Cassatano (phonetic), and I

          9  also would like to take the opportunity to thank

         10  Robert Newman and Jim Caras, who I didn't have a

         11  chance  -  I didn't have a chance to thank you

         12  earlier.  I'm not thanking you for this, but you

         13  don't deserve any thanks for what we're about to do.

         14  But you weren't here earlier, so I'm thanking you

         15  for what we did earlier.  Is that okay?

         16                 MR. NEWMAN: That's fantastic.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay.  Tell Caras

         18  we thank him, as well.

         19                 Now the Committee will consider 262,

         20  263, which Council Member Avella has introduced as

         21  the prime sponsor, which amends the New York City

         22  Charter Section 668-659 relating to the Board of

         23  Standard Appeals, otherwise known as the BSA.

         24  Intro. No. 263 would expand the Board's membership

         25  to include eight additional members to be appointed,
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          2  one each, by the Borough President, Public Advocate,

          3  Comptroller and City Council.  Intro. No. 262 would

          4  require that all of the Board's variance and special

          5  permit decisions be made by a two-thirds majority of

          6  the quorum present and voting.

          7                 The Board is comprised of five

          8  commissioners, each appointed by the Mayor for a

          9  term of six years.  The Board is an independently

         10  established charter entity that offers relief to

         11  landowners or interested parties negatively affected

         12  by the City Zoning Code.  Generally, the Board

         13  reviews and decides on applications from property

         14  owners whose proposals have been denied by the City

         15  Department of Buildings, Fire Commissioner or

         16  Department of Business Services.

         17                 The two bills that we are going to be

         18  hearing today would take a Charter body, all of

         19  whose members are appointed by the Mayor, and make

         20  it a body the majority of whose members are

         21  appointed by other elected officials.

         22                 As appealing as this may sound, this

         23  legislation needs further review.  The Council

         24  recently received a very favorable decision from the

         25  New York Court of Appeals regarding the Council's
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          2  ability to legislate in a case where the Mayor

          3  argued that our legislation curtailed his powers.

          4  The Court made it very clear that a lot of the time

          5  when the Administration cries curtailment, they are

          6  really crying wolf, and that the Council has brought

          7  authority to direct the use of the Mayor's powers.

          8  But even under the Court's and Council's

          9  interpretation of this doctrine, the proposed Local

         10  Law without a vote of a referendum that takes a

         11  charter-created mayoral board and turns it into a

         12  board controlled by other officials needs review.

         13                 In addition, the Corporation Counsel

         14  has provided us with a Memorandum of Opposition.

         15  For the record, their legal opinion as to why No.

         16  262 and 263 would constitute curtailments  -- I'm

         17  going to ask Council Member Avella, who sponsored

         18  this bill, to make opening remarks.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair. Obviously, I appreciate what you just did in

         21  terms of that statement.  Obviously, I disagree with

         22  some of the things that the Mayor has said.  I was

         23  just given a copy of a statement that the Mayor's

         24  Office sent over to us, which in my five and a half

         25  years in the Council, I have never seen the Mayor's
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          2  Office send over something like this.

          3                 Before I get into my actual

          4  statement, we should also recognize the fact that

          5  the reason we are having the hearing on these two

          6  bills is I have exercised the rarely used Sponsor's

          7  Privilege to, in effect, call these bills up for a

          8  hearing.  I think they've languished all too long in

          9  the Council, but let me read the statement before I

         10  go too far and too long.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: No, you could

         12  have your time.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: That's all

         14  right.

         15                 These companion bills were originally

         16  introduced over a year ago in April 2006 as a result

         17  of concerns regarding BSA's ever-expansive rulings,

         18  which are often in direct opposition with the

         19  meaning and spirit of City Zoning Laws and with the

         20  stated wishes of affected communities.  Intro. 262

         21  would require that all variance and special permit

         22  decisions issued by BSA be made by a two-thirds

         23  majority of the quorum present and voting.

         24                 The justification for this amendment

         25  is based upon the understanding that decisions of
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          2  this nature, zoning decisions, represent permanent

          3  alterations to the fabric of this City and can

          4  affect the rights of many property owners for years

          5  to come. Therefore, it is reasonable that zoning

          6  decisions made by BSA should only be done where

          7  there is a two-thirds majority of the quorum present

          8  and voting.  This will ensure that decisions of such

          9  magnitude are addressed by a substantial majority of

         10  BSA.

         11                 Intro. 263 would expand the

         12  membership, as the Chair mentioned, to 13 members.

         13  Prior to the 1991 Charter Revision, an elimination

         14  of the former Board of Estimate, zoning and special

         15  permit decisions made by BSA could be reviewed by

         16  the Board of Estimate, which was comprised of

         17  City-wide elected officials, including the Mayor,

         18  the President of the City Council, the Comptroller

         19  and the Borough Presidents.

         20                 The effect of this review process was

         21  to ensure that the public's voice would be

         22  considered in terms of such significant government

         23  decision making.  Unfortunately, following the 1991

         24  Charter Revision, the public's voice on such

         25  important issues was, in effect, silenced because
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          2  the prior review authority of the Board of Estimate

          3  was not carried over to any other body of elected

          4  officials, and the Mayor retained sole appointment

          5  powers in the membership of BSA.

          6                 This amendment to the Charter would

          7  add eight additional members to BSA to be appointed

          8  by the other majority elected officials in City

          9  government, the Borough Presidents, Public Advocate,

         10  Comptroller and the City Council.  The five mayoral

         11  appointees will remain, and the voices will be

         12  tempered by those eight additional members appointed

         13  by these other elected officials.  This amendment

         14  will return the concept of checks and balances to

         15  the decision-making process of BSA, and once again,

         16  add the public's voice to the debate over one of the

         17  City's most important governmental functions,

         18  zoning.

         19                 I would just add that the two pieces

         20  of legislation which are actually crafted in

         21  conjunction with the Four Borough Neighborhood

         22  Alliance and many civic groups and Community Boards

         23  throughout the City, has the support of many of

         24  those groups, and it just boggles my mind that we

         25  cannot move this piece of legislation.  Clearly, the
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          2  real estate industry, in my opinion, does not want

          3  this change to happen.  They like the system the way

          4  it is.  It has to change.  The very fact that I've

          5  had to use this little known rule to call this up

          6  for a hearing I find absolutely disgraceful in the

          7  process.

          8                 I thank the Chair for accommodating

          9  me.  My comments have nothing to do with the Chair

         10  or the members of this Committee. It has to do with

         11  the leadership of the Council.  I actually just came

         12  from another hearing at which one of the bills that

         13  I called up, the Speaker actually had the Committee

         14  introduce an almost identical bill so that my bill

         15  could not move ahead, but the other bill could move

         16  ahead.  It is a shame that the City Council's

         17  process, in terms of legislation, has been reduced

         18  to sheer politics, in my mind, and that the people's

         19  voice really has been nullified.

         20                 I intend, at a future meeting, as

         21  part of the Sponsor's Privilege Rule, to ask for a

         22  vote on this matter.  I'm not going to ask for it

         23  today because I think the public, the members of

         24  this Committee have an opportunity to hear from

         25  everybody, but I will ask for a vote.  I would like
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          2  to see everybody put their name to these pieces of

          3  legislation one way or the other.  I also want to

          4  give the opportunity to the community to poll their

          5  respective Council Members so that the members of

          6  this body can really understand just how important

          7  this legislation is.

          8                 Once again, my comments have nothing

          9  to do with the Chair or the members of this

         10  Committee who I respect very highly, but I am upset

         11  with the process.  But I do hope that we could move

         12  ahead on these two pieces of legislation.  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I thank you very

         15  much Councilman Avella, and I hope you didn't mean

         16  that it has nothing to do with the Committee, that

         17  it would be worse if you were talking about us.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: No.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: No, that's not

         20  what you meant. Okay.  Good.  So we have two panels

         21  and I just split them up randomly.  I have  --  I

         22  always make this mistake  --  Linda Eskenas, you can

         23  come up.  Michael Freedman-Schnapp, Ed and  -- Are

         24  these two people testifying, Ed and Kathy Jaworski?

         25  Okay, so you can both come up, and Isaac Sasson.
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          2  That's our first panel.

          3                 And as I said before, and I'll just

          4  repeat it one more time in case you weren't here, I

          5  would appreciate that  --  I'll wait until they sit

          6  down.

          7                 Do we have enough chairs?  I'm sorry.

          8                 So as we mentioned earlier, in terms

          9  of your testimony, if you could please make sure

         10  that whatever you're saying adds or disagrees to

         11  what was said, not just to repeat it again and

         12  again.  I'm sure you don't find that of any use.

         13  Neither does anyone else.

         14                 MR. SASSON: My name is Isaac Sasson.

         15  I'm the President of the Holly Civic Association,

         16  and also the Skyline Tenants Association in

         17  Flushing, and a member of Community Board 7. I'm

         18  here to give my full support for the two

         19  legislation, 262 and 263, authored by Tony Avella,

         20  supported by my Council Member John Liu, and a

         21  number of you.

         22                 Let me briefly give just three

         23  examples to illustrate why the legislation is

         24  necessary.  The landlord of my high rise

         25  rent-stabilized building had submitted a ten-year
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          2  renewal variance for the use of part of the

          3  underground garage parking lot to rent out to

          4  non-tenants.  When the request came to Community

          5  Board 7 in Queens, our Tenants Association submitted

          6  proof that the landlord violated many stipulations

          7  of the previous variance renewal, unilaterally and

          8  illegally decontrolled the entire garage and a

          9  number of other issues.  The CB7 committee rejected

         10  the application, and at the full CB7 hearing,

         11  neither the landlord nor his attorney from the

         12  Sheldon Lobel firm even bothered to show up for the

         13  hearing.  His application was unanimously rejected,

         14  as did the Borough President.  To its discredit,

         15  BSA, nonetheless, approved the variance request.

         16                 Number two, a church in our

         17  neighborhood bought a beautiful family home, razed

         18  it, and converted it to a parking lot. When they

         19  were cited by the Building Department for this, they

         20  applied for a variance to make this retroactively

         21  legal.  Even though the CB7 committee, the full

         22  Community Board and the Borough President turned

         23  them down, BSA approved the variance, and of course

         24  they had the firm of Sid Davidoff representing the

         25  applicant.
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          2                 More recently, a case where the

          3  applicant wanted a special permit to operate a spa

          4  in an M1 zone was turned down by Community Board 7,

          5  with Council Member Avella and State Senator Frank

          6  Padavan both speaking out at the Community Board in

          7  opposition.  Yet BSA, nonetheless, approved the

          8  application.

          9                 These are just three examples, and of

         10  course there are many, many more.  It is very

         11  frustrating for community active people to work very

         12  hard to do what's good for their areas, only to see

         13  a non-elected agency trump all their hard work and

         14  totally disregard the will of the people.  Law firms

         15  or architects are well connected, but not the

         16  people, always seem to get the ear of BSA. The final

         17  decisions on granting variances should be left to

         18  our elected officials, not to an appointed group.

         19  We did not elect BSA members, but we elected you.

         20  My tenant association and my civic association beg

         21  you to act on these two legislations, as well as

         22  261-206, due for a July 24th hearing, which creates

         23  a Council review process.  Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.  Next,

         25  please.
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          2                 MS. ESKENAS: Thank you.  Linda

          3  Eskenas for Four Boroughs and the Preservation

          4  League of Staten Island, the North Shore Waterfront

          5  Greenbelt and West Brighton Restoration on Staten

          6  Island.

          7                 Obviously, the purpose of our

          8  government and our laws and agencies must be to

          9  preserve the greatest City in the world and to

         10  create a high quality of life for our people

         11  fostering respect for each other and our City, it's

         12  past, present and future.

         13                 Every month many issues come before

         14  community boards, variances, special permits on

         15  Staten Island, to build in the Special Hillside

         16  Preservation District, variances for yet another

         17  polluting use to be put in a neighborhood.  The

         18  applicants are not really concerned if the citizens

         19  and the Community Board say no because they can

         20  simply go to the Board of Standards and Appeals and

         21  they say yes.

         22                 The purpose for which our laws are

         23  hard fought for Hillside District, our health, our

         24  efforts to restore our historic waterfront

         25  communities, our quality of life, our property
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          2  values, our future, are severely and dangerously

          3  affected by these decisions which now have no

          4  bearing on the very decisions that affect them.  The

          5  BSA usually approves gouging into the Hillside

          6  District, or changing the character and continuing a

          7  toxic polluting business with a ten- or 15-year

          8  variance, even though it severely impacts the health

          9  and well being of our children, our elderly and our

         10  citizens.

         11                 This is the destruction of our

         12  neighborhoods and ultimately of New York City.  The

         13  BSA must be accountable and make decisions based on

         14  the well being of our City and the people who built

         15  it and make it thrive.

         16                 Whole neighborhoods have been

         17  severely harmed by variances to allow toxic uses in

         18  historic and residential areas. What used to be a

         19  stable are now a row of auto bodies polluting

         20  everybody around them and poisoning a great historic

         21  neighborhood and its people.

         22                 Citizens and the well being of New

         23  Yorkers must have representation on the BSA.  We

         24  must have reform.  Please vote for 262 and 263, so

         25  we can restore our great New York City neighborhoods
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          2  and allow them to thrive.  New York City is a city

          3  of people and every day we make history.  It must be

          4  always for the good and for the great future.  Thank

          5  you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.  Next,

          7  please.

          8                 MR. FREEDMAN-SCHNAPP: Good afternoon.

          9  My name is Michael Freedman-Schnapp, and I am the

         10  Senior Policy Associate for the New York Industrial

         11  Retention Network, or NYIRN.  We are a City-wide

         12  economic development organization that works with

         13  manufacturers to promote a diverse economy to

         14  provide employment and entrepreneurial opportunities

         15  for all New Yorkers.  We work with about 400

         16  companies a year, at least half of whom have real

         17  estate and relocation issues.

         18                 NYIRN strongly supports Intro. 262,

         19  and 263 and urges the Council to pass these

         20  important reforms of the Board of Standards and

         21  Appeals.

         22                 To protect well-paying manufacturing

         23  jobs and to reap the job creation potential from

         24  increased sustainable development, we must reserve

         25  space for industry in the City.  The BSA has been
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          2  extremely lenient in the granting of variances.

          3  That leniency undermines the effectiveness of zoning

          4  regulations, community empowerment and job

          5  retention.

          6                 In the past, zoning variances granted

          7  by the BSA have had dramatic, cumulative effects,

          8  greasing the skids for wholesale changes of

          9  neighborhoods.  Conversions approved by the BSA

         10  allowed the displacement of light industrial jobs in

         11  favor of high-end residential uses, dramatically

         12  changing these neighborhoods.  For example, the 2005

         13  rezoning of Northside Williamsburg to allow

         14  unlimited residential conversions was made much

         15  easier by the fact that the BSA had granted dozens

         16  of residential variances in that neighborhood over

         17  the years.

         18                 While the adaptive re-use of

         19  buildings is a necessary and inevitable part of the

         20  City's growth and development, variances should be

         21  granted with the overall economic development

         22  consequences of Land Use changes in mind.

         23                 Viable light industrial businesses,

         24  such as printers, bakers, specialty food

         25  manufacturers, metalworkers and furniture shops are
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          2  leaving the City because there is a severe lack of

          3  affordable industrial space.  The City's industrial

          4  business zones are full to capacity.  Many have

          5  lower vacancy rates than the office market in

          6  Midtown.

          7                 The manufacturing jobs these

          8  businesses create are an important and necessary

          9  part of City's economic health. Approximately

         10  230,000 industrial jobs exist in the City, about

         11  half of which are manufacturing.

         12                 I would be remiss if I did not

         13  mention that as a result of the Mayor's January 2005

         14  industrial policy, the BSA has taken a much closer

         15  look at variances than in the past, but despite

         16  these positive developments, the BSA could revert

         17  back to its former practices.  Zoning and Land Use

         18  procedures, in general, should protect neighborhood

         19  character, accommodate growth and meet community

         20  needs.  Therefore, decisions of BSA should be made

         21  by a two-thirds majority and be made by

         22  commissioners appointed by a range of elected

         23  officials.

         24                 Thank you very much for the chance to

         25  testify on this legislation.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.  Next,

          3  please.

          4                 MR. JAWORSKI: Ed Jaworski, Executive

          5  Vice President, Madison-Marine-Homecrest Civic

          6  Association in Brooklyn.  I apologize, first of all,

          7  for not having written out my remarks.

          8                 Airline pilots have their experience

          9  based on logging hours of flight time.  My wife and

         10  I have each logged over a hundred hours at the BSA

         11  at hearings related to special permits on the zoning

         12  resolution 73-622.

         13                 Thanks, I'm sure, partly to pressure

         14  from Council Members like Mr. Avella and a change

         15  over in commissioners, we've seen improvement at the

         16  BSA this past year.  I view the BSA, personally, as

         17  competent, and the staff is always willing to help

         18  us.  Now, however, many things about the way

         19  business is conducted at the BSA are very

         20  troublesome, and I'm not entirely sure that Intros.

         21  262 and 263 will provide full solutions though they

         22  are a start and we do support them.

         23                 The Mayor has the current five

         24  appointments for commissioners, and it's no secret

         25  that he's pro-development.  So at the BSA hearings,
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          2  attorneys, architects, engineers start with that

          3  knowledge as an advantage.  It's kind of like

          4  putting one rub up on a scoreboard for the home team

          5  before a game even starts.  And the permit

          6  representatives also have a tremendous experience.

          7  They know how the system works, and they wear down

          8  opponents by stretching hearings out over many

          9  months.  So us rookies see another unearned iron

         10  placed on the scoreboard before the game starts.

         11                 When Intro. 262 mentions that BSA

         12  decisions be by a two-thirds majority, I must say I

         13  can't recall anything but unanimous decisions there.

         14  We've been at hearings and feel positive about some

         15  statements that the Chair might challenge the

         16  applicant representatives about, but then we hear,

         17  for example, an engineer who sits on Community Board

         18  15 stand up and say something like you've given me

         19  this permit before, you must give it to me again,

         20  and suddenly the BSA caves in.

         21                 Obviously, 262 will be necessary and

         22  will be worthwhile, only if 263 is also adopted.

         23  Regarding 263, I like the idea of enlarging the BSA,

         24  especially giving an appointment to the Council, the

         25  Public Advocate, and the Comptroller, but just this
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          2  past, week we've seen a lot of publicity about the

          3  highly political appointments to Community Boards in

          4  Brooklyn and the manner in which the Borough

          5  Presidents influence these appointments, and I

          6  question giving the Borough President any more

          7  appointments to handcuff the public involvement even

          8  further.  As a result of real problems, I can see

          9  with the Borough President appointing to Community

         10  Boards, I suggest considering maybe a borough's

         11  appointment could come at an election or better yet,

         12  maybe just take away two or three of the Mayor's

         13  appointments.

         14                 In any case, something has to be done

         15  so that people like me and my neighbors don't go to

         16  the BSA seeing the scoreboard already stacked

         17  against us.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.  Next,

         19  please.

         20                 MS. JAWORSKI: Kathy Jaworski,

         21  Corresponding Secretary, Madison-Marine-Homecrest

         22  Civic Association.  I applaud Councilman Avella's

         23  bills and his efforts to try to get them passed.

         24                 For the past two years, I have

         25  attended at least 15 hearings at the BSA as a
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          2  homeowner and a member of the Madison Marine-

          3  Homecrest Civic Association, nine of these hearings

          4  directly affecting my houses and blocks regarding

          5  zoning Resolutions 73-622, bulk extension on one and

          6  two-family homes, a law in only two and a half

          7  Community Boards in New York City.  This law is

          8  changing the character of our neighborhoods.

          9                 So I have seen them in action.  I can

         10  tell you the BSA has changed personnel, and the new

         11  group has been more responsive to civics, but has

         12  never denied a permit objected to by our civic

         13  group, Madison-Marine-Homecrest Civic.  There have

         14  only been modifications in plans, even though many

         15  neighbors come, in large numbers, to object.

         16                 From my point of view, the problem

         17  lies also in the laws that govern the BSA, the laws

         18  that come from the City Council. So in reforming the

         19  BSA, please keep this in mind, your responsibility.

         20  Every time we object to the ZR 73-622 Special

         21  Permit, we are told by BSA to go back to City

         22  Planning, City Council and our Community Board 15 to

         23  effect change.  So part of the BSA's problem is the

         24  nature of the laws before them.  Your laws need to

         25  protect all parties involved with clear language and
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          2  fairness.  Laws coming from your body need to

          3  address issues affecting all citizens, not just

          4  those with special interests. Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Do any of my colleagues have any

          8  questions?  Sure, Councilman Avella.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I want to

         10  thank you all for coming down.  And Ed, you made a

         11  very good point about the fact that BSA's votes are

         12  unanimous.  Without both bills going ahead, the

         13  two-thirds bill is meaningless.  That's why both

         14  bills have to go ahead, and you mentioned that.  I

         15  appreciate you making that comment.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you all.

         17                 The next panel, final panel, Robert

         18  Furman, Mary Ann H. McGowan, Walter  --  Is that

         19  Mugdan?  Okay, and Daniel McCalla.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Mr. Chair,

         21  while this panel is getting seated, I would just

         22  like to enter into the record letters of support my

         23  office has received for these bills from Jerry and

         24  Seymour Weiner (phonetic) from the South Canarsie

         25  Civic Association, the Olinville Taxpayers and Civic
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          2  Association in the Bronx, Community Board 11 in

          3  Queens, the Wakefield Taxpayers and Civic League in

          4  the Bronx, Community Board 10 in Brooklyn and the

          5  North Shore Waterfront Conservancy of Staten Island,

          6  and an individual who represents the Auburndale

          7  Civic Association in Queens.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          9  much.  First witness, whenever you are ready.

         10                 MR. FURMAN: Hi.  My name is Robert

         11  Furman.  I'm Chairman of the Four Borough

         12  Neighborhood Preservation Alliance. Although I have

         13  given copies of my statement, heeding the Chairman's

         14  reasonable request that we not repeat what has been

         15  said before, I am going to take some out and put

         16  some new things in.

         17                 Enactment of these two bills will

         18  begin the process of setting the super-Mayor system

         19  we have had since the enactment of the 1991 Charter

         20  Revision.

         21                 The Charter Revision was made

         22  necessary by the Supreme Court's finding that the

         23  voting system at the Board of Estimate, one vote per

         24  borough, regardless of population, did not conform

         25  to the one person, one vote rule.  But by abolishing
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          2  the Board and transferring too many of its functions

          3  to the Mayor, rather than the Council and the other

          4  City officials, an imbalance between the supposedly

          5  co-equal branches of our local government has been

          6  created which has only been aggravated by term

          7  limits and the current interpretation of the State

          8  law requiring a referendum if a Mayor's power is

          9  diminished.

         10                 I'd like to talk a little bit about

         11  what a community that was successful in opposing

         12  some variances had to go through in order to achieve

         13  that to give you a sense of why reform is necessary.

         14  The Greenwood Heights South Park Slope community in

         15  Brooklyn was re-zoned, down-zoned mostly, and in

         16  response to that, a number of developers rushed in

         17  to try to complete foundations to put in new

         18  buildings.  Those Building Department applications

         19  to go ahead with the buildings were rejected

         20  uniformly by the Buildings Department and the

         21  developers filed appeal to BSA.  In order to defeat

         22  these things, and several of them were defeated.

         23                 Most notably the one that got

         24  publicity was for a building that would of obscured

         25  the view from the Altar of Liberty and Green-Wood
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          2  Cemetery, which is an important Revolutionary War

          3  point, to the Statue of Liberty.  What that

          4  community had to do was hire a real estate lawyer

          5  who had practiced before the Board of Standards and

          6  Appeals.  In other words, they did what developers

          7  do, and that is the only way this community could

          8  actually go out there and have some affect because,

          9  of course, a real estate lawyer knows what you have

         10  to do to deal with the BSA, but what was the cost?

         11  Well, to be precise, over $100,000.  So you have a

         12  small civic organization going out assuming an

         13  incredible debt, which fortunately was allowed by

         14  this particular attorney, but they may end up in

         15  bankruptcy and have to spend most of their time now

         16  raising money in order to meet this debt.  I would

         17  ask you to approve these bills simply to try to

         18  prevent this sort of thing from having to be done in

         19  the future, and let's also remember that it's only

         20  wealthy communities that have the money to even

         21  consider doing this.  Poorer communities are out of

         22  the picture completely. Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.  Next,

         24  please.

         25                 MS. MCGOWAN: Good afternoon.  My name
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          2  is Mary Ann McGowan, and I'm from the Clove Lake

          3  Civic Association.  I want to thank the Councilman

          4  for notifying us of this hearing, and we appreciate

          5  very much the work you are trying to do to correct

          6  these unfair decisions made by the BSA.  We support

          7  you in both of these, and we know that our

          8  Councilman McMahon and Councilman Oddo are co

          9  sponsors with you.  I would like to get to a couple

         10  of the situations that were not already mentioned.

         11  I'm in total agreement with I believe their name was

         12  the Jaworski's, and I don't want to repeat what they

         13  said, but we have appeared before the BSA on over 40

         14  occasions dealing with only two actual variances.

         15                 In one case, the variance was given

         16  out after six or seven years of negotiations between

         17  Community Board 1, the residential community that

         18  the building was going to be in and the owner of the

         19  property.  After he agreed, and got the variance, he

         20  then went ahead and built as he wanted to with total

         21  disregard to the variance.  When we went back the

         22  BSA, we were initially told that he would have to

         23  tear the building down, but instead he filed an

         24  amended variance, and it was all approved.

         25                 So there are a couple of things I
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          2  would like to go beyond.  I would love to see you

          3  pass these two bills, but I'd like to bring up a

          4  couple of issues.  Right now with the BSA there is

          5  absolutely no public notice given to communities in

          6  order  --  I think it was the cost- saving part of

          7  the Mayor's program.  He eliminated them having to

          8  put in a public notice in local papers. It's only in

          9  the City Record, which costs of $300 dollars a year,

         10  and I don't know of any civic association that gets

         11  it.  So we would like to see public notice be re-

         12  instituted and the BSA have to give it out at least

         13  60 days before a hearing.

         14                 We'd like to see sworn testimony for

         15  the BSA.  We have sat in hearings and we have

         16  listened to people not only overly exaggerate, but

         17  out and out lie to these commissioners, and I don't

         18  know how these commissioners can possibly sort

         19  through what is being said to them and come up with

         20  true decisions when there is no sworn testimony and

         21  there are no consequences for lying to them.

         22                 The third thing is we'd like to see

         23  three estimates when people are claiming hardships.

         24  There are five criteria that should be met, but

         25  we've seen people come in with estimates from

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  businesses that don't even exist anymore.  We have

          3  pointed this out, but if I put a roof on my house,

          4  I'm going to get three estimates, and we would hope

          5  that that would become in some way part of the BSA.

          6                 We would also like to see the BSA

          7  have some kind of an enforcement power.  This idea

          8  of expanding the BSA is good, but we think they need

          9  to have specifically assigned building inspectors

         10  that sit on top of these.  Maybe five, one for each

         11  borough, and when a variance goes out, have an

         12  inspector that deals with that.

         13                 I appreciate your listening to my

         14  comments, and I hope you all do get on board and

         15  back these bills.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.  Next,

         17  please.

         18                 MR. MUGDAN: Walter Mugdan, President

         19  of the Westmoreland Association, Northeastern

         20  Queens, Little Neck.  Thanks very much.  It has been

         21  our sad experience that the BSA has, historically,

         22  been all too willing to grant the requests of

         23  developers for variances from the City's zoning

         24  requirements.  We think the granting of a variance

         25  should be the rare exception, and not the common
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          2  outcome of a BSA proceeding.  We think, for this

          3  reason, it's appropriate that a super-majority be

          4  required.  The BSA is a non-elected body.  When

          5  granting a waiver, it is, effectively, overturning

          6  or nullifying a law, the zoning resolution, which

          7  has been adopted by our elected officials, and that

          8  should be a very rare exception, and that's why we

          9  think a super- majority is perfectly appropriate.

         10                 We agree with the earlier speakers,

         11  and with Councilman Avella who has indicated that if

         12  you are going to do that, you also need to have a

         13  better constituted BSA and the reason that the

         14  members should  --  Because they have this

         15  extraordinary function and authority, which is to

         16  allow variances and waivers of duly developed law

         17  and adopted laws and regulations, it's appropriate

         18  that their membership be selected by a wider group

         19  of elected stakeholders than just the one.

         20                 Our system of governance at the

         21  federal, state and local level is a system that

         22  depends upon power sharing and distributed power

         23  among different stakeholders.  We believe that the

         24  proposal here to expand the membership of the BSA

         25  and who appoints them is a way of doing the same
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          2  thing for this very, very important and

          3  authoritative body.  It'll have a better

          4  representation.  Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.  Next,

          6  please.

          7                 MR. MCCALLA: Hi.  Good evening.  Good

          8  afternoon.  My name is Daniel McCalla from Fort

          9  Greene, Brooklyn.  I am member of the Four Borough

         10  Neighborhood Preservation Alliance.  I'm here to

         11  testify in support of Intros. 262 and 263.

         12                 The BSA is a little known City agency

         13  that Joe Blow citizens like myself, and I didn't

         14  even know where they were until about four or five

         15  years ago.  That's how unknown they are.  The

         16  Intros. To require a two-thirds majority vote for

         17  decisions regarding zoning variance and special

         18  permits is a great idea that is long overdue, and

         19  hopefully with City Council help, this can become

         20  possible.

         21                 This legislation addresses specific

         22  applications intended for developer or property

         23  owner to override zoning district requirements for

         24  financial reasons.  In theory, it is supposed to be

         25  for a true hardship.  What we have is not a true
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          2  hardship financially.

          3                 However, during these last two

          4  mayoral administrations, hit and run developers, who

          5  are trying to build bigger projects than contextual

          6  zoning applications from City Planning allow, have

          7  used construction tactics such as doing construction

          8  at night just to get their foundations in to

          9  construction without permit.  The list goes on and

         10  on, and their intention is to get that variance.

         11  Okay?  Intention, not by accident, that is their

         12  plan, and, unfortunately, this actually puts the BSA

         13  in that position of rewarding their bad behavior.

         14                 With a two- thirds majority,

         15  hopefully there will be more encouragement to allow

         16  commissioners to truly address the applications for

         17  specific requirements that the zoning resolution and

         18  granting variances (sic).  Unfortunately, the BSA

         19  has become a means for developers to change the

         20  characters of neighborhoods making the zoning

         21  resolution almost impossible to enforce.

         22                 In closing, Mr. Chairman, I want to

         23  continue my support for Intro. 262 and 263, and

         24  Councilman Avella's efforts, and thank you for

         25  hearing me, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          3  much.  Do any of my colleagues have any questions

          4  for this panel?  Being none, I thank you very much

          5  for coming.

          6                 Councilman Avella.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair.  Just a quick closing comment.  There's

          9  actually a third bill that refers to BSA, and that

         10  is to give the City Council oversight over BSA. That

         11  is going before the City Council's Land Use

         12  Committee, but I just want to impress upon the

         13  members of this Committee because at some point in

         14  the future I will ask for a vote on this matter.

         15  The memo that the Mayor's Office apparently

         16  circulated was in opposition to these bills stating

         17  that it would dilute the Mayor's power.  Well, yes,

         18  it would, but it has to.  This Council has to stand

         19  up for good government, and if the Mayor doesn't

         20  want to do it, then we have to do it.

         21                 BSA has been allowed to get out of

         22  control ever since the Charter was changed in 1991.

         23  Before then, the Board of Estimate had the appeals

         24  process.  If you didn't like something BSA could do,

         25  you could appeal to an elected official.  Ever since
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          2  1991, BSA has been a power unto itself.  The only

          3  way you can appeal that is you have to privately

          4  sue.  Well, good luck.  Nobody has ever won.

          5                 We in this body should stand up for

          6  the Community Boards, the civic associations that

          7  have been fighting zoning battles in this City for

          8  decades, winning and then losing later on at the

          9  Board of Standards and Appeals.  It has to be

         10  reformed.

         11                 I urge my colleagues when we come up

         12  for a vote in the Committee, and I will urge in at

         13  the full City Council, to pass this legislation.

         14  Let us stand up to the Mayor and say this needs to

         15  be done.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         17  much.  With that, the hearing is closed.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 2:45 p.m.)
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